

ACWS Ltd, PO Box 270, WASHINGTON, NE37 9BX, England acws.co.uk

# BYE-LAWS RULES GUIDELINES and POLICIES of

The American Civil War Society Ltd

# **Table of Contents**

ACWS LTD BYE-LAWS	1
ACWS LTD BYE-LAWS – APPENDIX 1	6
ACWS LTD RULES	

# **ACWS LTD BYE-LAWS**

## **Completely Revised August 1994**

### Adopted at AGM 20/11/1994

## **Last Updated January 2015**

#### A. General

- 1. The name of the organisation is THE AMERICAN CIVIL WAR SOCIETY LIMITED (a Company Limited by Guarantee Registered Number 2610962 England) as registered at Companies House and the Business Names Registry, hereinafter called 'The Company'.
- 2. The Aims of the Company are: -
- a) To organise, conduct and present historical displays, battle and/or living history re-enactments, costume balls or other presentations depicting various aspects of the American Civil War 1861 to 1865 and its environs.
- b) To produce films, videos and other artwork and/or to publish books papers pictures and articles of an historical and/or educational nature.
- c) Through these main activities to provide entertainment and interest for both Members of the Company and the public, to assist in the preservation or restoration of historical sites and battlefield monuments and to help raise money and support for charitable or other good causes.
- d) Additionally, this Society declares it is a black powder/gunpowder using Society in its historical impressions and interpretations, limited to the ages of and use of weaponry from the flintlock (for the purposes of the American Indian and Revolutionary Wars only and later) and percussion periods of military history and/or any military weaponry in use during the period of the American Civil War 1861 to 1865.
- 3. The Company shall be non-profit making and all funds accruing to the Company shall be used for the purposes of furthering the aims of the company set out in paragraph A2 above and/or as authorised by the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company, by a General Meeting thereof or by resolution of the Board of Directors.
- 4. The Bye Laws and Rules of the Company are ancillary to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the company and where any difference or contradiction arises then the Memorandum and Articles of Association take precedence.
- 5. Directorships and any other posts to which Members may be elected, co-opted or otherwise appointed shall be Honorary. The expenses and disbursements of such functionaries, if legitimately incurred in connection with their duties and if claimed, shall be paid from Company funds and proper and valid receipts provided for such expenses so paid for accountability. Expenses and disbursements in furtherance of Company business incurred by other Company Members or by any other persons or bodies acting on Company business by order or authority of the Board of Directors shall be paid, if claimed for, from Company funds in such manner and proportion as may have been arranged between the person(s) / body concerned and the Board of Directors. It shall be a principle of the Company's operation that no Member shall otherwise receive financial reward or profit from the Company or as a result of its activities, (save and except where expressly authorised by the Company at a General Meeting or by the Board of Directors and then only in furtherance of the Aims and Objectives of the company).
- 6. The Company shall have no political affiliations.
- 7. In the event of the Company ceasing to exist for whatever reason, after the settlement of any outstanding liabilities and debts, all remaining assets shall be distributed in accordance with

the provisions of the Companies Acts unless the Members by a simple majority at a General Meeting resolve that such balance is distributed to such Military and/or historical charities or purposes as they may then resolve.

- 8. The day to day running and management of the Company shall be the responsibility of and shall be invested in the Board of Directors.
- 9. All Company correspondence shall (save where otherwise directed) be sent to the designated Post Office Box of the Company or such other address as the Directors may decide and advise the Membership.
- 10. All re-enactments and events presented by the Company shall take place in accordance with the current Code of Conduct issued by the Health and Safety Executive and other relevant legislation and subordinate rules and regulations applicable.
- 11. Every unit commander, staff officer, officer, and NCO and Director shall be supplied with a copy of the Company's code of Conduct for Battle re-enactments as approved by the Health & Safety Executive.
- 12. A full list of Company officials shall be published at least annually in the Company's Newsletter.

## **B.** Membership

- 1. Membership of the Company will not be refused on grounds of race, creed, colour, religion or sex although some restrictions may be imposed on the grounds of historical precedent relating to re-enacting matters.
- 2. No person under the age of 14 years shall be permitted to become a Full Member of the Company. Save in exceptional circumstances and as authorised by the Board of Directors and/or a General Meeting, persons under the age of 16 years shall be required to take a non-combatant role. Persons under 18 years will be required to have and produce the consent of a parent or guardian. All full members shall sign the Company's form of Indemnity on joining or re-joining the Company. Full members' children aged 7 to 13 years may be permitted to participate in the Company's Junior Units.
  - For all children of full members who are their parents or guardians or who are in loco parentis, from birth to their 14th birthday, there shall be a membership category called 'Junior Member'. Any such child attending or likely to attend an event of the Company shall be recorded as a Junior Member by such parent/guardian on Junior Membership forms provided by the Membership Secretary. The purpose is to have a record of all on camp or at an event, for the safety of children and for the better management of the Armies. Junior Membership confers no voting rights at a General Meeting, costs nothing and has no financial obligation (as set out in Bye-Law B12). The Membership Secretary will issue Junior Members with Junior Membership cards.
  - (Junior membership, and henceforth Full Membership, added AGM Dec-2013)
- 3. No applicant shall be considered for full membership of the Company unless and until there has been deposited with the Membership Secretary a signed and fully completed Membership application form in the Company's current form and paid the required Membership fee. Acceptance of membership is discretionary to the Company, usually is for one calendar year or part of a year at a time (unless otherwise determined at a General Meeting or by the Board of Directors) and is signified by issue of a current valid Membership Card. No new member shall be allocated to a particular unit until their application has been accepted by the Member Commanding that Unit.

- 4. The Board of Directors may reject an application for Membership without any reason or explanation or refuse a new Member membership of a particular Unit. Refusal or transfer of a Membership renewal must be notified in advance to the unit commanders affected and must be accompanied with an explanation.
- 5. Memberships will fall due for renewal on 1st January each year. Any current Full Member failing to deposit with the Membership Secretary their membership renewal and appropriate fee by 31st January of the relevant year may lose any military rank they may hold and may have their Membership renewal request treated as a New application at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
- 6. Each Full Member shall be entitled to such issues of the Company's Newsletter or Magazine as may be produced and issued during the period of the relevant year for which the Member has so joined, and to draw such ammunition (if licensed and authorised for the same) as may be issued by the designated Company Explosives/Safety Officer(s) for use at the Company's events.
- 7. Every Full Member shall be entitled to vote at a General Meeting. After a Full Member has been such for no less than 6 months that member may stand for election to a Company office or position provided always that candidate is adequately and properly qualified for the post in question (and/or trained as necessary in the case of a specialist or technical office or position).
- 8. The Annual Membership fee for any given year shall be decided at the Company's Annual General Meeting held immediately prior to the year in question. There shall be Individual, Couple, Single Parent Family and Family Memberships. A Couple is defined as two married or Common Law Partners living in the same household. A Single Parent Family is defined as one Parent, plus any Children living in the same household. A Family is defined as any number of members of the same family living in the same household.
- 9. A Registration Fee will, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be levied at each event or re-enactment of the Company from all Members and Guests at the event, no matter where they camp or what they do. The minimum and maximum such registration fee shall be decided by the Board of Directors. A Family Membership Group, including Guest families, will never pay more than double the Registration Fee at an event.
- 10. All Members shall be subject to and shall abide by the Rules and Bye Laws of the Company as laid down by the Board of Directors and as approved by a General Meeting of the Company.
- 11. No person body or group shall be permitted to take part in any Company event or activity unless they are Members of the Company or have been permitted to take part by express authority of the Board of Directors which must be obtained in advance.
- 12. The liability of Full Members of the Company is, in accordance with its Memorandum and Articles of Association, limited. Every Full Company Member shall on joining the company undertake to contribute such amount as may be required on demand (not to exceed £10 on any one occasion) to the Company's assets if it should be wound up or dissolved whilst that person is a Full Member, for payment of the Company's debts and liabilities and of the costs charges and expenses of such winding-up/dissolution, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves.

# C. General Meetings

Subject to the Companies Acts and to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company: -

- 1.An Annual General Meeting of the Company shall be held once every calendar year. Non-members shall not be permitted to attend, except with the prior approval of the Board of Directors. Each member shall receive at least 21 days' notice of any General Meeting (proof of posting to the current address of such Member as advised to the Membership Secretary being sufficient evidence of receipt of such notice) together with a copy of the proposed agenda/nature of the business to be transacted. Any matters of an important nature which arise and are not contained in the Agenda must become the subject of a further General Meeting. Such notices and other information and statements may be transmitted electronically to the e-mail address of the member as provided to the Membership Secretary. (Amended AGM Dec-2013)
- 2. No alteration or addition to the Rules or Bye Laws of the Company may be made except by a simple majority vote at a General Meeting of those Members present and voting together with proxy votes in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. The Chairman shall have an extra casting vote in the event of a tie. Voting by those present at the Meeting may be by show of hands or by secret ballot either by the resolution of the meeting or by direction of the Board of Directors.
- 3. All proposals put before any General Meeting of the Company shall only be passed by a majority vote of those members present and voting together with proxy votes as in Clause 2.
- 4. In the event of there being more than one candidate for an elected office duly nominated, seconded and who has agreed to stand as such candidate in writing and received by the Secretary prior to issue of the Notice of the Meeting the person who shall be elected shall have the greatest number of the valid votes cast or if two or more candidates tie with a majority of such votes the vote shall be taken again immediately between only those tied votes candidates and if there shall still be a tie the Chairman of the meeting shall use a casting vote to decide the issue.

#### D. Board of Directors

- 1. The Board of Directors shall be elected annually at the Annual General Meeting and all Directors shall, on being elected, undertake to resign if not re-elected at the next following Annual General Meeting. To be elected and during office a Director must be a member of the Company. The Board of Directors will consist of not less than Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer.
- 2. The Directors are empowered to run, administrate and make decisions on behalf of the Company and to uphold Company standards in accordance with these Rules and Bye Laws and to ensure the safe, efficient and legal operation of the Company within the Companies Acts and other relevant legislation. The Board of Directors shall appoint or dismiss Members to or from non-elected positions within the organisation, and have the principal authority to negotiate or conduct relations with any persons or bodies external to the Company and to conduct financial matters on the Company's behalf.
- 3. Half or more of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum and the Board of Directors shall not have power to co-opt a greater number of non-executive Directors than the number of official Directors posts set out in Appendix 1 hereto.
- 4. Non-Directors (whether ordinary Members or other guests) may attend Board Meetings only by the permission and prior approval of a majority of the Directors.
- 5. The Board of Directors shall consist of some or all of the Director's posts referred to in Appendix 1 hereto. It is not mandatory for the posts in Part A of Appendix 1 to be Directors (other than Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer) and such posts can be filled by persons within Part B (Other Officials) and/or treated as such.
- 6. Proposals put before valid meetings of the Board of Directors shall be passed by a majority vote of those Directors present including due allowance for the Chairman's additional casting

- vote (see appendix 1). The Board can also come to e-decisions by e-votes. These requests must be sent to all Board Members electronically and allow a reasonable period of time to reply. The proposition to vote on must be clear and unambiguous and allow for either a yes/no vote or to choose one option from those put forward. Normally the Secretary will run and conduct an e-vote of the Board and declare the result of the vote promptly after the closing date. (Amended AGM Dec-2013)
- 7. Directors are required to give no less than 28 days' notice in writing to the Chairman or Company Secretary of their intention to resign. Under such circumstances, if not falling at or on the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors shall be entitled to co-opt a replacement to hold office until the next General Meeting.
- 8. Retiring Directors and other office holders shall ensure that they shall be available for consultation and for assistance to their replacement Director/office holder until their assistance is no longer needed by the new Director or other office holders or 6 months from the replacement whichever is the sooner.
- 9. The Retiring Director is to retire and cease to hold office either at the expiry of the resignation period as above or on failure to achieve re-election and the new Director takes- over and shall be responsible for that portfolio immediately he or she is in post.
- 10. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall take place on at least 14 clear days' notice (save in the case of an emergency) and as often as the Chairman and/or the Secretary deems necessary but on a quarterly basis is the expected minimum number of such meetings each year. Each Director shall be supplied with an agenda for the meeting with the notice convening the same. Apologies for absence are to be forwarded in advance to the Company Secretary (save in the case of an emergency).
- 11. Other than as specifically provided for in paragraphs D1-10 and Appendix 1, the powers of the Board of Directors shall be as provided for in the Memorandum and Articles of Association and by the Companies Acts.
- 12. Army Representatives may be co-opted onto the Board by the Board of Directors, as they deem expedient and necessary.

# E. Military Organisation

- 1. There shall be two forces (hereinafter referred to as Armies) representing the Union and the Confederacy. Each Army shall be divided into Units. In addition, there shall be bi-partisan units including medical and pyrotechnics.
- 2. No new unit shall be permitted to be formed within either Army without the express authority of and upon terms and conditions determined by the Board of Directors.
- 3. The Military rank structure of the Armies shall be reviewed annually at a Meeting of the Board of Directors and both Army Commanders (or at such other times as may be necessary and expedient) and such Army Commanders shall on such matters be able to vote at the appropriate meeting (if not already Directors).
- 4. No person shall be appointed a Commissioned Military Officer in either Army save on the recommendation of the Army Commander concerned and with the approval of the Board of Directors.
- 5. No army Commissioned Officer shall be deprived of his rank or demoted save by the Board of Directors acting in concert with the Commander of the Army concerned.

- 6. To qualify as a recognised Army Unit the Unit concerned must have a minimum of 10 members on its rolls. Any unit or units fielding less than 10 Members at any re-enactment or event presented by the Company may, at the discretion of the Army Commander concerned, be merged with any other unit or units and the Army Commander shall appoint a Commander for that re-enactment or event to command such merged units. At the end of a season the Board of Directors and the Army Commanders shall be entitled to review the performance and attendance levels of Units, and any found to comprise fewer Members than 10 or to turnout on a regular basis fewer than 10 may at the discretion of the Board of Directors and the Army Commanders (acting jointly) be disbanded or merged.
- 7. In the case of an officer or NCO being absent, his duties shall be undertaken by his immediate subordinate. If this is not practicable the relevant Army Commander will allocate an acting rank to a suitable private soldier and/or post into that unit an officer or NCO from another unit in that Army, but for that event only.
- 8. Any officer or NCO wishing to resign must do so in writing and give 28 days' notice to the Company Chairman and relevant Army Commander, and Unit Commander (if applicable).
- 9. Army Commanders shall be elected annually at the Annual General Meeting by registered members of their respective forces only. Army Commanders shall be co-opted on to the Board of Directors if the Army Commander so wishes. The Army Commander always has the right of audience at Board Meetings. The Army Commander may nominate a representative, who the Board, at their discretion, will co-opt as a Director.

# ACWS LTD BYE-LAWS – APPENDIX 1

#### COMPANY OFFICIALS AND OUTLINE DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

#### A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### 1. Official Directors Posts

The following are not definitive and are merely indications of Company tasks and areas of responsibility. Where an office holder has statutory tasks under the Companies Acts etc., these are not set out in full. The Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer must be Directors. It is not mandatory for the other part A1 posts and/or job descriptions to be on the Board of Directors although desirable.

#### (a) Chairman

Responsible for upholding the Bye Laws and Rules of the company, takes the chair at any Board or meeting of Company members and has the casting vote in the event of a tie. Responsible for leadership of the company and its Members, keeping meetings in order, and ensuring proposals are put to a vote after a reasonable amount of discussion. He or she should have a thorough knowledge of the Bye Laws and Rules.

#### (b) Secretary

Responsible for recording minutes of all Company meetings and preparation and circulation of agenda prior to such meetings. Replies to/deals with all correspondence appropriate to the job, and that not otherwise specifically within the remit of another Director. Takes the Chair in the absence of the Chairman. Responsible for all returns and records to Companies House including sending financial returns. Keeps minutes books available for perusal by any Member.

#### (c) Membership

Responsible for keeping an accurate and up to date record of all company members together with pertinent details and issue of Membership cards. Organises signing-in roster at each Company event.

#### (d) Events

Responsible for seeking events and venues and negotiating them with sponsors. Arranges company events, visits sites to ensure adequate facilities available and manages the costings of such events. All projects or events undertaken on behalf of the company by any member or group of members acting on behalf of or representing the company in any capacity must be authorised and co-ordinated by the Events Director. Responsible for ensuring camp sites duly co-ordinated and organised (via Army Commanders and/or camp co-ordinators).

#### (e) Treasurer

To produce accounts and full financial information on a regular basis as necessary for the Board of Directors to be able to come to management decisions based on sound financial advice. Responsible for keeping accurate and full account of all Company Financial transactions and to produce balance sheet and all other financial information for the purposes of the Companies Acts. Arrange for Auditing of accounts. Keep secure and control and the deposit and payment of funds with and by a reputable financial institution. Maintain a current record of all Company assets and materials and their locations. All Company financial transactions/business shall be co-ordinated through him/her.

#### (f) Communications

Responsible for compiling and keeping all Company publications, the management and production of Newsletter/Magazine and communication of information to the Membership.

#### (g) Health & Safety

Responsible for the training and supervision of safety, explosives and pyrotechnics staff, for the supervision of the procurement and distribution of ammunition and pyrotechnic effects, and liaison with Police, Home Office, Health & Safety Executive, Local Authorities and other Re-enactment bodies and groups on such matters. To deal with Health & Safety, security and explosives matters on behalf of the Company within the ambit of relevant legislation. Responsible for the preparation and maintenance of the Company's Risk Assessments.

#### 2. Other Directors

Other Executive Directors may within the arrangements of the Memorandum and Articles of Association and these Rules and by laws be elected at a General Meeting or co-opted onto the Board by the Board of Directors as the Board deem expedient and necessary. An Army Commander not otherwise a Director would normally and usually be expected to be a Director under this head in any event.

#### **B. OTHER OFFICIALS**

#### 1. Explosives Officer

To assist the Health & Safety Director in regard to all Explosives matters. Must have close knowledge of the Code of Conduct and ensure all ammunition preparations issues and returns are carried out in accordance with Code of Conduct and Company Rules and "best practice" and that ammunition storage is safe, secure and compliant with legislation.

#### 2. Assistant Safety Officers

To assist the Health & Safety Director and the Explosives Officer in regard to safety aspects of firearms (including Cannon) and site safety arrangements, including liaison/checking with individuals, Groups or

Bodies at Company events as well as Company Members. Must have close knowledge of the code of Conduct and that events are conducted in accordance with it. To inspect camp sites, weaponry and ammunition for safety. The Assistant Safety Officers will work in close liaison with the Health & Safety Director and with each other. The Board of Directors empowers the Assistant Safety Officers (in the absence of the Health & Safety Director) to carry out all his or her role and function at a site and/or event, including to order any Member to cease any conduct (or take such steps as may be required to rectify the same) which in his/her considered opinion is or could be dangerous or lead to something insecure, and/or contrary to Company Rules and Bye Laws concerning any Health & Safety matter or handling/use of Explosives. They have the Board's Authority to order any Member or Guest acting dangerously in either regard to stop immediately and/or clear any weapon and/or leave the field of an event or venue. In the event of failure to comply with any such reasonable directions he/she may report such person to the Board of Directors for such action to be taken as the Board deems fit.

#### 3. **Pyrotechnics Officer**

Responsible for advising on and procuring and operating or supervising the operation of all pyrotechnic effects including safety, storage and transport issues, and at the end of an event the clearance of the reenactment site of all pyrotechnic effects and the restoration of the site as far as is practicable from their effects, under the overall supervision of the Health & Safety Director or Explosives Officer. Must have a close knowledge of the Code of Conduct and use of pyrotechnics conducted in accordance with it. Responsible for training, control and supervision of all Members involved with pyrotechnics. It is expected that the Explosives Officer, Assistant Safety Officers and Pyrotechnics Officer will have "Category 3 or mode B Licences" or equivalent suitable for their needs, functions and purposes. Those responsible for Safety (including not only Battle re-enactment and explosives matters but also regarding camps, fire precautions and the like) shall acquaint themselves either prior to an event or immediately they arrive with the layout and location of the site and all facilities and ensure that plans are made, and briefings given as necessary to ensure compliance with Safety matters. This is likely to involve liaison with Camp Co-ordinator(s) and the Army Commanders and the Medical Officer.

#### 4. Camp Co-ordinators

Responsible for maintenance of notice board with timetable at signing-in point and taking charge of any encampments at events. To ensure camps laid out correctly and supervised (in liaison with Army Commanders), safety requirements met and necessary "supplies" available as per Events Director's arrangements e.g., wood, water, toilets etc. Liaise and communicate as necessary on site and camp safety and security arrangements.

#### 5. **Army Commanding Officers**

Will take charge of their Armies and of training and of activities for the event/show/battle including issuing orders of the day and/or instructions on timings (in liaison with Events Director). Responsible for arranging or delegating the arranging of the re-enactment and marshalling their forces and appointing acting ranks in accordance with Bye Law E.7. Responsible for commanding and leading their Army, for morale and promoting recruitment and retention of Members.

#### 6. Unit Commanding Officers

Responsible for their units to their respective Army Commanding Officers, both at events and otherwise, training their personnel, morale, recruitment and ensuring that clothing and equipment is to a reasonable standard. Ensuring that all Members under their command are Company Members and are duly licensed as necessary and trained in use of their weaponry and drills and tactics.

#### 7. Non-Commissioned Officers

Supporting their C.O.'s in their various duties and standing in for them in case of absence. Marking left and right flanks of their units/taking charge of their cannon as appropriate. Be knowledgeable of drills and have ability to instruct/train. Set a good example.

#### 8. The Medical Officer

In charge of the Company's Medical Service and responsible for ensuring that each event is adequately covered by qualified medical personnel from the Company. Maintains the accident book and makes contact with any existing medical facilities on site or nearby. Ensures that all First Aid/Medical Service

personnel are in possession of current St John's/Red Cross First Aid Certificates or other equivalent or better qualifications and are provided with Medical Orderly Insignia for identification. Maintenance of First Aid Kits.

#### 9. **Medical Orderlies**

Under Command of Senior Orderly, in complete charge of any injured Member at events until more qualified personnel are in attendance. To be a suitable qualified First Aider. Responsible for keeping Medical kits complete and readily available. (Posts in paras 7 and 9 are to be distinguished from Nurses and Medical Orderlies re-enacting the role of a Civil War Nurse or Medical Orderly and NOT carrying out a real first aid function).

#### 10. **Marketing**

Reporting to the Board of Directors, responsible for creating and co-ordinating the company's strategic, and long-term publicity and Public Relations Strategy. Responsible for co-ordinating the company's publicity and public relations for events, contacting and managing all contact with local and national media prior to events and all official comments to and contact with the media on behalf of the company. To deal with all Television and film production companies and to negotiate the media rights for the company. To deal with all commercial and sponsorship matters associated with events, where such activity falls outside the company's normal activities. To manage all promotional activity on behalf of the company. To raise awareness of the society both nationally and internationally. To pro-actively publish articles, features and other material from members of the company or others engaged in promoting the company. To ensure that directories and listings of events and re-enactors are kept informed of the company's activities. To co-ordinate with and co-operate with the Events Director in seeking events and venues. To protect and enhance the reputation of the company and to prepare and, if necessary, execute a damage limitation or defensive strategy where there is a risk of adverse publicity which may damage the reputation of the company.

# **ACWS LTD RULES**

## **Completely Revised August 1994**

#### Adopted at AGM 20/11/1994

## **Last Updated December 2013**

#### Introduction

All Battle Re-enactments in the United Kingdom are governed by a Code of Conduct approved by the Home Office and the Health & Safety Executive. Both the Code of Conduct and the Company's Rules must be strictly adhered to. Failure to comply will result in disciplinary action and possible expulsion from Membership of the Company.

# A. Membership

- 1. Whilst at the events and venues of the Company, and/or whilst holding out in any capacity that they are acting for or engaged in activity for the Company, members are required to conduct themselves to a high standard, to obey all reasonable and lawful commands given by the Officials of the Company in pursuance of their duties and to uphold the standards and reputation of the Company.
- 2. Former members who have failed to renew their membership for the current year will be refused participation at Company events.
- 3. All members are required to conduct themselves in an orderly manner. Dangerous or offensive behaviour likely to prejudice the good name for the Company may lead to suspension or withdrawal of Membership or such other sanction(s) as the Board of Directors may decide.
- 4. Officers and NCO's will be held fully accountable to the Directors for the conduct of members of their unit and guests under their command.
- 5. Only members, their families and guests will be allowed to camp at Company events and sites.
- 6. The minimum age for participating in Company events is 14 years old.
- 7. Women may participate fully in all events of the Company including being armed, equipped and dressed as men and in the ranks of units subject to:
  - a) Individual units being free to decide as they may wish on their own membership in this matter, and:
  - b) Women participating as soldiers must appear appropriately dressed and equipped to reasonable standards as the Board of Directors may determine and be commensurate with the image and appearance of the unit they are re-enacting.
- 8. No member or guest will be permitted to participate in Company events without first having signed the Company's agreed disclaimer.
- 9. Participation by non-members at Company events is forbidden except for the following:
  - a) Members of other groups/units/societies invited by the Directors.
  - b) Guests introduced by existing members for one event only, but only with the express approval of their unit commander and a Director.
- 10. The Company reserves the right to revoke the membership of any member, or to impose such other discipline and/or sanction within its powers as the Board of Directors considers appropriate, who brings, or acts in a manner likely to bring the Company or its reputation into disrepute. The Board of Directors shall have power to impose such sanctions as they deem

equitable and expedient upon any person, or persons, who, in the judgement of the Board, has, or have, acted in contravention of these Rules. The Board shall also have power to expel and/or discipline members or other person(s) at events & venues of the Company whose conduct is found to be unsafe, unlawful, harmful, dishonest, unseemly, who breaks or fails to comply with the ACWS Bye-laws, Rules, Guidelines & Policies or who is convicted of a Firearms or Explosives Regulations offence. The principles of 'natural justice' shall be followed when determining such matters and the procedures and processes in order to deal with such matters are set out in the section headed 'Disciplinary Matters.'

#### **B. Firearms**

- 1. All members and guests are required to ensure that weaponry owned by them, or in their possession, is in a legal and safe condition and has been duly registered and proofed as necessary. Any weaponry found to contravene this regulation will not be permitted for use at Company venues and events. All members and guests are required to have all appropriate and current licences and permits for the use of weaponry and ammunition and for their use at Company venues and events.
- 2. Company members must obey the law at all times. Any illegal use of firearms and ammunition will result in immediate expulsion from the Company and possible prosecution.
- 3. The discharge of guns other than during battle re-enactments and events is forbidden except by authority of the Chairman, or the Health & Safety Director or Explosives Officer, or Assistant Safety Officers and/or an Army Commander.
- 4. No weaponry of any type (whether required to be licensed or otherwise) is to be carried off camp and/or battlefield or event limits (including parades) except on official Company business save when in transit to and from home.
- 5. Unsupervised weaponry must be kept safe and secure (preferably under lock and key) when at Company events and venues.
- 6. No member or guest shall drink or have drunk alcohol or taken any toxic, hallucinogenic or mood altering or any other illegal substance prior to a battle or event of the Company on that day, or during an event, or be affected by any of the same from a previous day, or be under the influence of any of the same and be in charge of a firearm or ammunition whilst so affected.

#### C. Ammunition

- 1. The use of blank ammunition other than that supplied, or expressly authorised, by one of the Health & Safety Director, Explosives Officer, Assistant Safety Officers or Pyrotechnics Officer, is strictly forbidden.
- 2. Unused blank ammunition (or the makings thereof) may only be taken from Company events by duly licensed members who have been authorised by the appropriate Officer (as listed in B3 above) to do so. All other unused blank ammunition, or the makings thereof, is to be returned to the appropriate Explosives, Safety or Pyrotechnics Officers before leaving the event or venue.
- 3. Members will ensure that ammunition is kept in a safe and secure cartridge box, pouch or container.
- 4. No ammunition will be issued to, or allowed to be used by, any member or guest who has not registered at that battle or event and who is not covered by appropriate black powder and/or shotgun certificates and/or licences and authorities required for the use of the same.

5. No 'live' ammunition of any description and no 'live' ammunition which has been converted into blank form will be permitted on site or to be used at an event at any time.

## D. Safety during Battle Re-enactments and Events.

- 1. Firearms will not be discharged dangerously in close proximity to any other participant member or the public. Due safety distances will be observed and the rule 'if in doubt, do not fire' observed.
- 2. Loaded firearms must not be carried into, or used in, hand-to-hand combat.
- 3. Edged weapons will NOT be used in hand-to-hand combat.
- 4. Swords & sabres may be worn as appropriate and when realistic so to do with the approval of the Army Commander. Spurs may only be worn where appropriate to the impression and with the approval of the Army Commander. Bayonets axes and knives may be worn where appropriate to the impression, provided they are safely secured and not drawn during battles or when it is unsafe to do so.
- 5. All other metallic edges weapons (e.g., knives, axes, spurs etc. save where permitted by D4. above are forbidden.
- 6. Capturing or taking away of battle standards or flags of any sort is forbidden.
- 7. Hand-to hand combat may only take place by prior permission of the Army Commanders.
- 8. All non-combatant personnel who are not attached to a particular unit are required to keep well behind their respective battle lines and in the vicinity of field hospitals etc., unless they are undertaking the duties of authorised medical personnel, or they have been expressly authorised by the Chairman, the Health & Safety Director, Explosives / Safety /Pyrotechnics Officer(s) and/or Commanding Officer(s).
- 9. No member or guest will be permitted to take part in a re-enactment or event of the Company if they have consumed alcoholic drink or illegal drugs and/or other intoxicating hallucinogenic or mood-altering substances prior to or during the event on the day of the event or are under the influence of any of the same. Any member found to have participated in a re-enactment of the Company in contravention of this rule may have their membership revoked and any guest will not be invited back.
- 10. Safety distances in front of and the clearance zones of fire for cannon when loaded and/or firing and/or pyrotechnic effects will be strictly observed in accordance with the Code of Conduct.
- 11. The use of ramrods to load ammunition during battle re-enactments and events is strictly forbidden except for clearing or dealing with a jammed or misfired weapon and then only under safety supervision and clear of, and to the rear of, any battle line and in safe manner and situation (save and except cannon, for which please refer to the Code of Conduct). Ramrods may, however, be used in certain very controlled circumstances when it is safe to do so e.g., closely supervised authentic firing displays/living history presentations or filming work where no reenactors, the public or others are "down the line of fire."
- 12. No member or guest will be permitted to participate in re-enactments of the Company without first having attended the appropriate drill and training sessions.

#### E. Costume

- 1. When at events of the Company, either American Civil War costume or modern civilian dress will be worn. American Civil War costume should be worn in the authentic camps. Uniforms of other societies and organisations not in keeping with this period are not to be displayed or worn. 'Western' cowboy gear is NOT accepted as Civil War costume.
- 2. Uniforms of units are to be strictly adhered to. Individual interpretation outside the bounds of historical precedent supported by evidence is NOT acceptable. If in doubt, clear questions of uniform dress and equipment with the unit Commanding Officer first. Army Commanders have the ultimate right of veto and decision.
- 3. Members or guests who fail to uniform and equip themselves to Company standards will be refused participation at the events of the Company.

#### F. General

- 1. Members organising events for their unit outside Company activities must provide the Events Director with full details.
- 2. No article or letter will be published in any Company publication unless authorised by the editor and/or the Communications Director.
- 3. All camp sites, display sites and venues etc. are to be kept and left in a good and tidy state of repair and condition and litter and rubbish-free at the end of an event.
- 4. Post 1865 transport will not be permitted on authentic camps except to load and unload equipment and stores and then only for as short a period of time as is reasonably necessary for that purpose.
- 5. No open fires allowed in Family Camp areas (except domestic barbecues located and operated safely.) Only appropriate fuels in reasonable and safe amounts shall be used on such barbecues.
- 6. Members are required to be courteous to and considerate of others. Consequently, chopping firewood after midnight or before 7 AM (when others in camp are trying to sleep) is not to take place. At midnight noise, singing, music and any loud activities are to cease (quiet conversations not disturbing others are acceptable) unless exceptional circumstances, previously sanctioned by the Board and Army Commanders, allow for a reasonable extension of the midnight curfew.
- 7. Children and/or youths (those under the age of 18) are the direct responsibility of their parent(s) or guardian(s). Disciplinary action within Society Bye Laws and Rules will be pursued in the event of breaches of these responsibilities and failure to control children/youths by the relevant responsible adult(s) in whose care and charge they are at events. Under-age alcohol consumption is not sanctioned or condoned by ACWS. However, provided that the children/youths are well behaved, cause no nuisance or disturbance to others and are directly supervised by their parent(s)/guardian(s)/responsible adult, then such activities are only acceptable in their Regimental Street lines, when the public are not present of an evening or within caravan/tentage/awning on the Family Camp. ACWS can accept no responsibility for children/youths' behaviour, and it is the responsibility and duty of the relevant supervising adult to ensure good behaviour and discipline prevails. Groups of children/youths congregating away from their parent(s)/guardian(s)/supervising adult and consuming alcohol unsupervised, and/or changing into non-authentic dress, is not acceptable and will be a breach of these Rules.
- 8. Regiments may, within the confines of their own Street lines on Authentic Camps, not adhere to the strict authenticity guidelines when the event has finished for the day and the

public have left, provided that they do not upset or interfere with the authenticity and re-enactment wishes of others in other tent-line Streets or elsewhere. Changing into any modern dress is however NOT acceptable (see Regulations and Guidelines regarding conduct on the Authentic Camps Section 2.) Behaviour must always be reasonable and considerate of others, but parties and events in such circumstances (sanctioned in advance by Unit Officer Commanding and Army Commander) are acceptable with these Rules.

# **ANNEX- Disciplinary Matters** (Added AGM Dec-2013)

- 1. It is the responsibility of all members to inform a Board Director of any conduct by any person, whether a member or not, affecting the Company that contravenes clause 10 of these Rules.
- 2. (a) Such reports must be promptly passed-on to the Secretary or if he is not available, to the Chairman or the Treasurer at the earliest opportunity. If the incident is such that the Police Firearms Department should be notified of it, it is the duty of the Secretary to give such notice within 24 hours of his receiving the report. This step shall be taken in addition to any disciplinary action against the accused person as provided for below.
- (b) If the incident or occurrence is considered not to be serious enough to merit a full subcommittee hearing (in the Chairman's opinion, having conferred with the Secretary & Treasurer) and the accused person is content to accept the adjudication of the Chairman on the case, then the Chairman shall issue such warnings or admonishment as he deems appropriate, having conferred with the Secretary & Treasurer.
- 3. Otherwise the Secretary or Chairman shall convene a meeting of a total of three members of the Board of Directors to sit as a subcommittee to consider the matter not later than the next full event of the Company or a Board Meeting (whichever comes first) after notification of the incident, such subcommittee to ideally consist of Chairman or Secretary and two other Board members (but this will depend, at the discretion of the Chairman, on Board members immediately available for this purpose).
- 4. The Secretary or Chairman shall in the intervening period obtain statements in writing from both the accused and the accuser and, if necessary, from any witness(es) and will lay those statements before the subcommittee when it meets.
- 5. The subcommittee, having examined the evidence, may decide:
  - (a) That there is no case to answer, in which circumstance the accuser and accused will be informed by the Secretary that the matter is closed or
  - (b) That there is a case to answer, in which circumstance the matter shall be subject of a disciplinary hearing.
- 6. If it is decided that there is a case to answer, then the above subcommittee will reconvene and conduct the disciplinary hearing either at that full event or Board meeting if expedient or the next following such meeting/event.
- 7. At the disciplinary hearing, all parties to the incident may attend in person and the accused may have with him a friend or adviser. If the accused does not attend, he shall be entitled to receive a copy of the record of the hearing within 7 days of it having taken place or within 4 days of requesting the same, whichever is later. Anybody accused shall have written notice served on him not less than 14 days prior to the meeting of the subcommittee hearing the matter at his address according to the Company's current records and posting by first class letter post to that address shall be deemed good service.
- 8. This disciplinary subcommittee will consider all written evidence as well as oral submissions when reaching their decision and the subcommittee shall first decide whether the allegation

has been proven or not. If it decides that the allegation has not been proven, it shall formally declare that the matter is closed. The accused shall be entitled to ask for notice to that effect to be given to the members by posting a statement to that effect on the Company's website, Members Section and the next following Newsletter and if he does so, such notice must be given promptly after the decision has been made.

- 9. If the subcommittee decides that the allegation has been proven (in whole or in part) the disciplinary subcommittee may impose one or more of the following penalties:
  - (a) A verbal warning
  - (b) A written reprimand
  - (c) Suspension of the right to attend the Company's events & venues for a stated fixed period of time
  - (d) Suspension of all membership rights for a fixed period of time
  - (e) Immediate termination of membership of the Company or, in the case of a non-member, of any right to make use of any of the Company's facilities & events.
- 10. All proceedings of the subcommittee (and any appeal hearing) shall be fully minuted.
- 11. Any person who disputes any decision, whether as to a liability or penalty, by the subcommittee, may appeal against that decision by serving upon the Secretary within 10 days of the hearing written notice of appeal and stating the reasons for such appeal.
- 12. As soon as practicable after receipt of such notice of appeal the Secretary will invoke the procedures hereafter set out to hear the appeal.
- 13. The appeal shall take the form of a re-hearing of the matter, so the appeal hearing shall not be entitled to enquire into the manner in which the disciplinary subcommittee reached its decision. The appeal subcommittee shall consist of another Board member as its chairman (being either the Chairman or the Secretary, whichever was not on the previous disciplinary subcommittee) and two other Board members of the Company who have not in any way been involved with the matter previously. The appeal subcommittee meeting shall take place in accordance with notification from the Secretary at the next following full event or Board Meeting of the Company (whichever comes first) and the same rules regarding attendance, representation, evidence and minutes taking shall apply as for the initial disciplinary subcommittee hearing.
- 14. All decisions on disciplinary matters shall be reached by means of a vote by those Directors on the sub-committee attending and eligible to vote and a simple majority will decide the issue and, if necessary, the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 15. The person who is the subject of the disciplinary action shall not be entitled to vote on any aspect of the disciplinary action against him and such member shall have no recourse upon the Company for any subscription or entry fee paid.
- 16. The Board shall report to the next following Annual General Meeting any penalty imposed on any person as a result of such disciplinary action since the last Annual General Meeting.

Published by the American Civil War Society Limited. PO Box 270, WASHINGTON, NE37 9BX, United Kingdom August 2022